## In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

ROMAN FLUGENCIO GONZALEZ,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S207830



Fourth Appellate District, Division One, Case No. D059713 San Diego County Superior Court, Case No. SCD228173 The Honorable Roger W. Krauel, Judge

MAY 3 0 2013

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

#### **OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

In light of this court's more recent application of sections 954 and 654, is *People v. Craig* (1941) 17 Cal.2d 453, still good law?

#### INTRODUCTION

Appellant Gonzalez forced an intoxicated and unconscious victim to orally copulate him. For this act, he was convicted of two crimes: oral copulation of an unconscious person (Pen. Code<sup>1</sup> § 288a, subd. (f); count 1), and oral copulation of an intoxicated person (§ 288a, subd. (i); count 2.) Under the authority and reasoning of *People v. Craig* (1941) 17 Cal.2d 453, 110 P.2d 403 (*Craig*), the Court of Appeal vacated Gonzalez's conviction for oral copulation of an intoxicated person, concluding the two convictions were actually one offense. *Craig* holds that such multiple convictions are improper where the convictions are based on the same act, and the violations are of different subdivisions of one statutory provision. (*Id.*, at p. 459.) Instead, *Craig* holds such convictions should be "consolidated."

The *Craig* opinion was born in an age of confusion regarding how to implement sections 954 and 654. In the 70 years since *Craig*, the courts have resolved the confusion and now consistently permit multiple convictions in similar situations, but require that the punishment be stayed under section 654. In light of this more modern understanding of the interplay between multiple convictions and multiple punishment, the *Craig* holding is an anomaly which creates an inherent conflict in an area of law that is otherwise well-settled.

In addition, *Craig* is inconsistently and arbitrarily applied. In other contexts, multiple convictions arising from a single act are routinely upheld. The remaining logic which purportedly supported the *Craig* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Future unlabeled statutory references are to the Penal Code.

decision also erodes under careful scrutiny. Finally, the continued application of *Craig* has potentially far-reaching consequences, and implementation of its proposed "consolidation" procedure is confusing and has proved burdensome for lower courts.

This court should overrule *Craig's* unworkable "exception" to section 954, apply the unambiguous language of section 954, and hold that a defendant can be convicted of multiple counts based on a single act. This court should reverse the Court of Appeal's decision in this case and reinstate appellant's conviction for unlawful oral copulation of an intoxicated person.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On June 25, 2010, Gonzalez was sitting on the sidewalk next to the victim, Carolyn H., on a street in downtown San Diego. (2 RT 77, 79.) Carolyn had been drinking, and eventually passed out. (2 RT 79, 80, 105-106, 133, 148.) Belligerently ignoring the protests of others around them, appellant forced Carolyn to perform oral sex on him while she was unconscious. (2 RT 83, 132, 147, 170, 172.) The police were summoned, caught appellant in the act and arrested him. (2 RT 170-171.)

On January 6, 2011, a San Diego County jury convicted appellant of one count of oral copulation of an unconscious person (§ 288a, subd. (f); count 1), and one count of oral copulation of an intoxicated person (§ 288a, subd. (i); count 2). Both counts 1 and 2 were based on the single act of oral copulation. For other separate acts, appellant was also convicted of one count of assault with intent to commit sexual penetration (§ 220, subd. (a); count 3), and two counts of sexual battery (§ 243.4, subd. (e)(1); counts 4 and 5)). (3 RT 367-368.) Counts 3, 4, and 5 are not relevant to the issue currently before this Court.

On April 21, 2011, appellant was sentenced to the low term of three years on count 1. The court also imposed the low term of three years on

count 2, but stayed the sentence pursuant to section 654. On count 3, the court imposed the low term of two years, and ran it concurrently to the term on count 1. (4 RT 402-403.) On counts 4 and 5, appellant was sentenced to 180 days with credit for time served. (4 RT 403.) Accordingly, appellant was sentenced to a total term of three years in prison.

On appeal, appellant argued his convictions in counts 1 and 2 could not both stand. He relied on *Craig, supra*, 17 Cal.2d 453, and argued that the two convictions were duplicative because he only committed a single act of unlawful oral copulation. A majority of the Fourth District Court of Appeal, Division One, agreed. According to the majority the two convictions could not both stand because appellant was convicted twice for the same offense based on two "circumstances" that existed at the time of the single act of intercourse. (Slip Op. at p. 13-14, emphasis added.) Because the two "circumstances" are delineated as subdivisions of the same statutory provision, and not as separate statutes, the subdivisions constitute separate "circumstances" for committing the same offense, but do not qualify as separate and distinct offenses of which appellant (or any other defendant) can be convicted. (Slip Op. at p. 13.) Accordingly, the court ordered count 2 to be vacated. Justice Benke authored a dissent in which she argued Craig was distinguishable, and she would have affirmed both convictions.

On January 8, 2013, respondent petitioned this court for review. On February 27, 2013, this court granted the petition for review.

/// ///

///

#### ARGUMENT

I. IN LIGHT OF THIS COURT'S MORE MODERN APPLICATION OF SECTIONS 954 AND 654, PEOPLE V. CRAIG IS NO LONGER GOOD LAW, AND SHOULD BE OVERTURNED

The Court of Appeal vacated appellant's conviction in reliance on Craig. But, against the backdrop of the more modern understanding and application of sections 954 and 654, the flaws in the Craig opinion and the need for its reversal become evident. At the outset, the Craig opinion ignored the express language of section 954, rendering it an anomaly in an otherwise well-settled area of law. Second, under modern scrutiny, the logic and reasoning that purportedly supported the conclusion in Craig prove faulty and unstable. Finally, implementation of the holding has either been ignored or proved cumbersome for lower courts. The procedure created in Craig is wholly unnecessary— a traditional application of sections 954 and 654 accomplishes the same goals and is a procedure with which trial courts are intimately familiar, one which is applied equitably on a consistent basis. The policy favoring adherence to precedent is outweighed by the fact that Craig is in direct conflict with the express language of 954, its conclusions are illogical, and the procedure it established has proved difficult to implement. Accordingly, the Craig opinion should be overturned, and the Court of Appeal's holding in this case should be reversed.

A. Section 954 explicitly allows prosecutors to charge and convict defendants of different offenses or different statements of the same offense for the same act

Section 954 sets forth the general rule that defendants may be charged with and convicted of multiple offenses based on a single act or an indivisible course of conduct. It states:

An accusatory pleading may charge two or more different offenses connected together in their commission, or different

statements of the same offense or two or more different offenses of the same class of crimes or offenses, under separate counts, and if two or more accusatory pleadings are filed in such cases in the same court, the court may order them to be consolidated. The prosecution is not required to elect between the different offenses or counts set forth in the accusatory pleading, but the defendant may be convicted of any number of the offenses charged, and each offense of which the defendant is convicted must be stated in the verdict or the finding of the court; provided, that the court in which a case is triable, in the interests of justice and for good cause shown, may in its discretion order that the different offenses or counts set forth in the accusatory pleading be tried separately or divided into two or more groups and each of said groups tried separately. An acquittal of one or more counts shall not be deemed an acquittal of any other count.

(Emphasis added.) The plain language permits multiple charges and convictions in three different situations. First, an accusatory pleading may charge different offenses in separate counts, as long as the different offenses are connected together in their commission. Second, the pleading may charge different statements of the *same* offense in separate counts. Third, the pleading may charge different offenses (not connected in their commission) if the offenses are of the same class of crimes. In any of these situations, the defendant "may be convicted of any number of the offenses charged." (§ 954.) The statute "permits the charging of the same offense on alternative legal theories, so that a prosecutor in doubt need not decide at the outset what particular crime can be proved by evidence not yet presented." (*People v. Ryan* (2006) 138 Cal.App.4th 360, 368.)

In accordance with the provision's express language, this court has consistently interpreted section 954 as permitting multiple convictions for an act that violates multiple statutory provisions. In contrast, on the separate issue of punishment, section 654 prohibits multiple *punishments* where a defendant has violated multiple statutory provisions by the commission of one single act.

In general, a person may be convicted of, although not punished for, more than one crime arising out of the same act or course of conduct. 'In California, a single act or course of conduct by a defendant can lead to convictions "of any number of the offenses charged." (§ 954[...]; People v. Ortega (1998) 19 Cal.4th 686, 692 ....)' (People v. Montoya (2004) 33 Cal.4th 1031, 1034.) Section 954 generally permits multiple convictions. Section 654 is its counterpart concerning punishment. It prohibits multiple punishment for the same 'act or omission.'

(People v. Sloan (2007) 42 Cal.4th 110, 116, citing People v. Reed (2006) 38 Cal.4th 1224 (Reed); emphasis added.) When multiple convictions are permissible, but multiple punishment is not, the trial court must impose and stay the execution of sentence on the convictions for which multiple punishment is prohibited. (People v. Sloan (2007) 42 Cal.4th 110, 116.) The trial court in this case did precisely as it was supposed to and stayed punishment on count 2 under section 654.

This court has often affirmed multiple convictions for a single act or indivisible course of conduct. (See e.g. *People v. Wyatt* (2012) 55 Cal.4th 694, 704 [involuntary manslaughter and assault on a child resulting in death for the same act of killing a child]; *People v. Duff* (2010) 50 Cal.4th 787, 792-793 [second degree murder and assault on a child resulting in death for single act of suffocating child]; *People v. Sanchez* (2001) 24 Cal.4th 983, 989-991 [murder and gross vehicular manslaughter]; *Ortega, supra*, 19 Cal.4th at p. 693 [grand theft and carjacking for the single act of taking a car]; *Pearson, supra*, 42 Cal.3d at p. 354 [sodomy and lewd conduct for the same act of sodomy]; *People v. Beamon* (1973) 8 Cal.3d 625, 639-640 [kidnapping for the purpose of robbery and robbery]; *People v. Montoya* (2004) 33 Cal.4th 1031, 1034 [carjacking and unlawful taking of a vehicle].) In *People v. Kramer* (2002) 29 Cal.4th 720, 722, the court stated explicitly, "Sometimes a single act constitutes more than one crime. When that happens, the person committing the act can be convicted of each of

those crimes, but Penal Code section 654 prohibits punishing the person for more than one of them."

An exception to section 954's rule that a single act may give rise to multiple convictions applies when a defendant is convicted of necessarily or lesser included offenses. (*People v. Reed* (2006) 38 Cal.4th 1224, 1227; *People v. Ortega* (1998) 19 Cal.4th 686, 692, overruled on another point in *People v. Reed, supra*, 38 Cal.4th at p. 1228; *People v. Pearson, supra*, 42 Cal.3d at pp. 354–355.) However, as the two crimes at issue here contain distinct elements, neither oral copulation of an unconscious person or an intoxicated person is a lesser included offense of the other. (See, e.g., *People v. Linwood* (2003) 105 Cal.App.4th 59, 63-65, & fn. 3 [jury found that the defendant was guilty of raping and attempting to rape an intoxicated woman, but not guilty of attempting to rape an unconscious woman who was still semi-conscious although intoxicated].) Thus, the lesser included offense exception would not prohibit the multiple convictions in this case.

Accordingly, by the plain language of section 954, appellant's two convictions in counts 1 and 2 are permissible. Indeed, this case highlights precisely why the Legislature has permitted multiple convictions in such situations. Assume for a moment that the evidence of unconsciousness or of intoxication was uncertain prior to trial. The prosecutor should be permitted to charge both crimes, and to secure convictions on both crimes, if after evidence has been presented, the jury determines appellant in fact violated both provisions. Otherwise, prosecutors would be forced to choose a crime based on factors not yet known, i.e. how the proof will come out at trial. The express language of section 954 together with the more modern interpretation and application of it and section 654 provide a solid and predictable foundation, which guides trial courts' imposition of sentence in a consistent manner.

# B. Craig created an exception to section 954 that conflicts with its express language and this Court's more modern decisions

In 1941, the Craig court created an exception to section 954 for multiple violations of a rape statute based on a single act of intercourse. The defendant in Craig forcibly raped a 16-year old girl and was found guilty of both forcible rape in violation of former section 261, subdivision (3), and statutory rape in violation of former section 261, subdivision (1). (Craig, supra, 17 Cal.2d at p. 454.) The trial court imposed sentence on each of the two counts and ran the two sentences concurrently. (Id. at p. 455.) The Craig court found the defendant could be charged with both crimes, (Id. at p. 458.), but held both convictions could not stand because they were separate subdivisions of the same rape statute. According to the court, the defendant had committed, "but one punishable offense of rape result[ing] from a single act of intercourse, although that act may be accomplished under more than one of the conditions or circumstances specified in the foregoing subdivisions." (Ibid.) The Craig court pointed out that there had been a violation of only one statute (§ 261) and only one victim had been involved. (Craig, supra, 17 Cal.2d at p. 458.) It concluded:

And, while the proof necessarily varies with respect to the several subdivisions of that section under which the charge may be brought, the sole punishable offense under any and all of them is the unlawful intercourse with the victim. We conclude that only one punishable offense of rape results from a single act of intercourse, though it may be chargeable in separate counts when accomplished under the varying circumstances specified in the subdivisions of section 261 of the Penal Code.

(*Craig, supra,* 17 Cal.2d at p. 458.) Nothing about the holding in *Craig* explains why rape convictions are somehow different than other situations. Section 954 expressly permitted then, as it does now, multiple charges *and* 

convictions for a single act where the single act violates more than one criminal provision — either as different offenses, or as different statements of the same offense.

In that regard, the validity of *Craig* has been undermined by this court's more recent case law giving full effect to sections 954 and 654. (See *In re Lane* (1962) 58 Cal.2d 99, 105 ["a later decision overrules prior decisions which conflict with it, whether such prior decisions are mentioned and commented upon or not"].) For example, in *People v. Pearson* (1986) 42 Cal.3d 351, this court upheld a conviction for sodomy (§286, subd. (c)) and lewd conduct (§ 288, subd. (a)) for the same act of sodomy. The court stressed that "section 654 bars multiple punishment, not multiple conviction." (*Pearson, supra,* 42 Cal.3d at p. 359, citing *People v. Tideman, supra,* 57 Cal.2d at pp. 586-587; *People v. McFarland* (1962) 58 Cal.2d 748, 762-763; see *In re Pope* (2010) 50 Cal.4th 777, 784 ["Section 654 prohibits multiple punishment, but it does not operate to bar multiple conviction[s]"], citing *People v. Pearson, supra,* 42 Cal.3d at p. 359.) *Pearson* explained:

[C]onduct giving rise to more than one offense within the meaning of the statute may result in initial conviction of both crimes, only one of which, the more serious offense, may be punished. [Citation.] The appropriate procedure, therefore, is to eliminate the effect of the judgment as to the lesser offense insofar as the penalty alone is concerned. [Citation.]

(People v. Pearson, supra, 42 Cal.3d at pp. 359-360, emphasis added, internal quotation marks omitted.) In People v. Britt (2004) 32 Cal.4th 944, 951-954, this court reiterated the same principles and held multiple convictions arising from violations of subdivisions of the same statute were also permissible. (Id., at p. 951 [A defendant may be convicted of violating both parts of section 290."].) Pearson and Britt confirm that when a single act violates two provisions (either distinct provisions, or subdivisions of a

single statute), a defendant may be *convicted* of both offenses, although not punished for both. Contrarily, *Craig* held that multiple convictions under such circumstances were impermissible. *Pearson* and *Britt's* holdings have been echoed in hundreds of other cases, all of which say the same thing: multiple convictions for a single act are permitted under section 954, but multiple punishment is barred under section 654. (See e.g. *Sloan, supra*, 42 Cal.4th at p. 116, and cases cited therein.)

Despite the clarity of this court's more modern interpretation and application of sections 954 and 654, the Court of Appeal here applied the *Craig* exception to multiple convictions under different subdivisions of section 288a, prohibiting oral copulation under various circumstances, for the sole reason the single act of oral copulation violated subdivisions of a single statute as opposed to separately enumerated statutes. (Slip Op. at pp. 13-14.)

As explained in the preceding section, section 954 expressly permits multiple charges and convictions under three different scenarios. Here, the crimes at issue are either different offenses connected in their commission (since they occurred at the same time), or different statements of the same offense (since there was only one act). (See *People v. Lofink* (1988) 206 Cal.App.3d 161, 166 [holding section 954 expressly allows prosecutors to charge and convict of multiple counts where the counts are different statements of the same offense].) This court need not decide whether the crimes are different offenses or are simply different statements of the same offense because under either scenario, section 954 permits the prosecution to charge and convict appellant of both crimes in separate counts. Thus, the holding in *Craig*, and now the holding in the instant case stand in stark contrast to the express language of section 954, and both holdings run afoul of nearly the entire body of modern law on section 954.

Finally, even assuming this court agrees with *Craig* that defendants can be charged with multiple counts for the same act, but not convicted of multiple counts where only one offense was committed, the offenses at issue here are different offenses, and thus, *Craig* is distinguishable.

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