IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent

v.

ROMAN FLUGENCIO GONZALEZ,

Defendant and Appellant.

No. S207830

Court of Appeal No. D059713

San Diego County Superior Court No. SCD 228173

ON REVIEW FROM
THE FOURTH APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION ONE
AND THE SAN DIEGO COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT
THE HONORABLE ROGER W. KRAUEL, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Raymond M. DiGuiseppe State Bar Number 228457

Post Office Box 10790 Southport, North Carolina 28461

Phone: 910-713-8804

Email: diguiseppe228457@gmail.com

Attorney for Appellant



Deputy

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

ARGUMENT

I

THE COURT OF APPEAL WAS UNDOUBTEDLY CORRECT IN HOLDING THAT APPELLANT CANNOT STAND CONVICTED OF TWO CRIMES FOR WHAT AMOUNTED TO JUST ONE OFFENSE

A. An Overview of the Law

"The issue of whether multiple convictions are proper is . . . reviewed de novo, as it turns on the interpretation of section 954." (*People v. Villegas* (2012) 205 Cal.App.4th 642, 646.) Under the earliest versions of section 954, a single prosecution could be based only upon "the same offense" or offenses that "all relate[d] to the same act, transaction, or event"

- "charges of offenses occurring at different and distinct times and places" could not be joined into a single prosecution. (Appendix A [Amendments to the Penal Code for the 1873-1874, 1880, and 1905 Legislative Sessions].) Effectively, the defendant was subject to only one conviction per prosecution based upon a single act or course of conduct, regardless of whether the same defendant may have committed other acts or conduct giving rise to additional offenses of a similar or related nature against the same or different victims. Then the statute was amended to permit, as it still does today, the prosecution to charge in a single proceeding "two or more different offenses connected together in their commission, or different statements of the same offense, or two or more different offenses of the same class of crimes or offenses, under separate counts" and for the defendant to be convicted "any number of the offenses charged." (Appendix B [Statutes of California, 1915 and 1927 Legislative Sessions].)²

The current version, which is substantially similar to the other versions of the statute since the 1927 amendment, provides:

An accusatory pleading may charge two or more different offenses connected together in their commission, or different statements of the same offense or two or more different offenses of the same class of crimes or offenses, under separate counts, and if two or more accusatory pleadings are filed in such cases in the same court, the court may order them to be consolidated. The prosecution is not required to elect between the different offenses or counts set forth in the accusatory pleading, but the defendant may be convicted of any number of the offenses charged, and each offense of which the defendant is convicted must be stated in the verdict or the finding of the court; provided, that the court in which a case is triable, in the interests of justice and for good cause shown, may in its discretion order that the different offenses or counts set forth in the accusatory pleading be tried separately or divided into two or more groups and each of said groups tried separately. An acquittal of one or more counts shall not be deemed an acquittal of any other count.

The obvious purpose of this change in the law was to promote efficiency and conserve judicial resources by avoiding the need for multiple prosecutions of the same defendant on charges that could be efficiently tried together in a single action. (See e.g., People v. Elliott (2012) 53 Cal.4th 535, 550-553 [approving prosecution of charges involving separate robbery-murder incidents under section 954 for these reasons].) "The purpose of section 954 is to govern 'the form of the information' (People v. Brooks (1985) 166 Cal.App.3d 24, 29) and to permit joinder of different offenses so as to prevent 'repetition of evidence and save[] time and expense to the state as well as to the defendant" (People v. Eid (2013) 216 Cal.App.4th 740, 752, quoting *People v. Scott* (1944) 24 Cal.2d 774, 779; see also People v. Valli (2010) 187 Cal. App. 4th 786, 795, quoting Kellett v. Superior Court (1966) 63 Cal.2d 822, 826 ["[B]y expanding the scope of permissible joinder under section 954, 'the Legislature has demonstrated its purpose to require joinder of related offenses in a single prosecution."]). It is clear that "joint trial 'ordinarily avoids the increased expenditure of funds and judicial resources which may result if the charges were to be tried in two or more separate trials." (People v. Soper (2009) 45 Cal.4th 759, 771-772, quoting *Frank v. Superior Court* (1989) 48 Cal.3d 632, 639.)

So joinder of such offenses is essentially required absent sufficient cause to try them in successive actions: "If needless harassment and the waste of public funds are to be avoided, some acts that are divisible for the purpose of punishment must be regarded as being too interrelated to permit their being prosecuted successively." (*People v. Valli, supra*, 187 Cal.App.4th at p. 795.) Thus, "[w]hen . . . the prosecution is or should be aware of more than one offense in which the same act or course of conduct plays a significant part, all such offenses must be prosecuted in a single proceeding unless joinder is prohibited or severance permitted for good cause. Failure to unite all such offenses will result in a bar to subsequent

prosecution of any offense omitted if the initial proceedings culminate in either acquittal or conviction and sentence." (*Id.* at pp. 795-796; see *People v. Britt* (2004) 32 Cal.4th 944, 954 [a sex offender must be prosecuted in a single action for violating section 290 by failing to timely register with authorities in a new county of residence and failing to notify authorities in the former county of residence of the move].) And "[w]hen a crime can be committed in more than one way, it is standard practice to allege in the conjunctive that it was committed every way. Such allegations do not require the prosecutor to prove that the defendant committed the crime in more than one way." (*People v. Moussabeck* (2007) 57 Cal App.4th 975, 981, quoting *People v. Lopez* (2005) 129 Cal.App.4th 1508, 1532-1533.)

An obvious logical corollary of the rule permitting the state to charge the defendant with multiple offenses based upon the same or related act or course of conduct, without the need to make an election among any of them, is that the defendant may be convicted of such multiple offenses. It would do no good to permit joinder of such offenses but then only permit the defendant to be convicted of one crime or crimes arising out of only one of the acts, transactions, or events at issue, as it had been in the past. So the current version of section 954 provides that "the defendant may be convicted of any number of the offenses charged." (§ 954, italics added.)

But none of this means that a defendant may properly be convicted of each and every offense, or each and every alternative statement of an offense, that the prosecution lists in the accusatory pleading. Instead, the defendant may only properly be convicted of multiple *distinct* offenses — whether based upon a single act or course of conduct, or separate acts connected in their commission or constituting offenses of the same class.

This is clear enough from the face of the statute itself. The statute defines three categories of *charges* that may be joined into one action: "different offenses connected together in their commission," "different

statements of the same offense," and "different offenses of the same class of crimes or offenses, under separate counts." (§ 954, italics added.) The language concerning the charges of which the defendant may be convicted appears in a separate sentence, in the clause immediately following the statement concerning the prosecution's right to proceed without an election: "The prosecution is not required to elect between the different offenses or counts set forth in the accusatory pleading, but the defendant may be convicted of any number of the offenses charged." (§ 954, italics added.) One cannot divorce the second half of the sentence from the first and read it as a free standing statement regarding the permissibility of multiple convictions; rather, the most natural and logical reading of the full statement is that the reference to "the offenses" in the second clause of the sentence relates back to and is thus modified by the reference to "the different offenses or counts" in the first clause. (Kurtin v. Elieff (2013) 215 Cal.App.4th 455, 471 ["courts prefer a more natural reading of text to a less natural one"]; Renee J. v. Superior Court (2001) 26 Cal.4th 735, 743, internal quotes omitted, italics added ["qualifying words, phrases and clauses are to be applied to the words or phrases immediately preceding and are not to be construed as extending to or including others more remote"].)

Notably, the statute uses the term "different offenses" only in connection with two of the three categories of charges that may be joined into the proceeding: "different offenses connected together in their commission" and "different offenses of the same class of crimes or offenses, under separate counts." The third category of charges -- "different statements of the same offense" -- is wholly different than the other two since it concerns alternative means of pleading the same offense as opposed to separate offense, and is not referenced in the language concerning the charges of which the defendant may properly be convicted. Thus, the most reasonable construction of section 954 based upon the language of the

statute itself is that it authorizes conviction of any number of the charges or counts that set forth *different offenses*, but does *not* authorize multiple convictions based merely upon *different statements* of *the same* offense.

Courts have indeed recognized that, while section 954 "permits the charging of the same offense on alternative legal theories, so that a prosecutor in doubt need not decide at the outset what particular crime can be proved by evidence not yet presented" (People v. Ryan (2006) 138 Cal.App.4th 360, 368, italics added), the statute does not permit multiple convictions based simply upon alternate theories of the same offense: "[T]he defendant may be convicted of any number of the offenses charged . . ." (People v. Coyle (2009) 178 Cal.App.4th 209, 217, quoting section 954, emphasis original), which means "[m]ultiple convictions can be based on a single criminal act, if the charges allege separate offenses" (People v. Smith (2012) 209 Cal.App.4th 910, 915, emphasis added; accord Coyle, at p. 217, and People v. Muhammad (2007) 157 Cal.App.4th 484, 490).

The same principle is evident in the case law regarding the relationship between section 954 and section 654 – the "counterpart" that "prohibits multiple punishment for the same 'act or omission." (People v. Sloan (2007) 42 Cal.4th 110, 116.) "When section 954 permits multiple convictions, but section 654 prohibits multiple punishment," the solution is to "stay execution of sentence on the convictions for which multiple punishment is prohibited." (Ibid., italics added.) But determining whether the remedy under section 654 sufficiently protects the defendant ultimately goes back to whether multiple convictions were proper in the first place, since section 654 does not come into play unless and until the defendant has suffered multiple convictions based on the same act or omission. So, once again, the focus is whether the offenses constitute distinct crimes of which the defendant may separately be convicted: "While jurisprudential considerations of double conviction and double punishment are similar, the

former is concerned more with *identity of offenses* as distinguished from identity of transactions from which they arise." (*People v. Harris* (1977) 71 Cal.App.3d 959, 969, italics added; accord *People v. Rouser* (1997) 59 Cal.App.4th 1065, 1073.) Hence the rule that "a person may be convicted of, although not punished for, *more than one crime* arising out of the same act or course of conduct." (*People v. Sloan, supra*, 42 Cal.4th at p. 114, emphasis added; accord *People v. Reed* (2006) 38 Cal.4th 1224, 1226.)

The uniformly recognized rule barring dual convictions of both a greater and lesser offense is grounded in the same fundamental concerns: preventing two convictions for what amounts to just one offense. (See People v. Ortega (1998) 19 Cal.4th 686, 692, quoting People v. Pearson (1986) 42 Cal.3d 351, 355, italics original ["this court has long held that multiple convictions may *not* be based on necessarily included offenses"].) "[T]he determination crime B is a lesser included offense of crime A amounts to an interpretation of the verdict or judgment of conviction: a conviction of A is deemed to include a conviction of B, so that double conviction is superfluous and the former can be reduced to the latter." (Ortega, at pp. 701-702, conc. opn. of Werdegar, J., italics original.) This rule is "logical": "If a defendant cannot commit the greater offense without committing the lesser, conviction of the greater is also conviction of the lesser. To permit conviction of both the greater and the lesser offense 'would be to convict twice of the lesser.' There is no reason to permit two convictions for the lesser offense." (Ortega, at p. 705, dis. opn. of Chin, J., quoting People v. Fields (1996) 13 Cal.4th 289, 306, second italics added; accord People v. Medina (2007) 41 Cal.4th 685, 701.)

The operation of this rule highlights another aspect of section 954 further showing that the Legislature envisioned multiple convictions based on the same act or course of conduct only for *separate and distinct* offenses. The last sentence provides, as it has since being added in 1927:

"An acquittal of one or more counts shall not be deemed an acquittal of any other count." (§ 954.) Read in isolation, this would mean an acquittal of any of the charged offenses would not constitute an acquittal of any of the other charged offenses, even with respect to charges that constitute lesser included offenses of the acquitted charge. This obviously does not jibe with the rule barring dual convictions of greater and lesser offenses. It has always been understood that an acquittal of a greater offense necessarily constitutes an acquittal of any lesser included offense. (People v. Ng Sam Chung (1892) 94 Cal. 304, 306 ["a conviction or acquittal of a higher offense is a conviction or acquittal of all lesser offenses necessarily included therein"]; accord People v. Day (1926) 199 Cal. 78, 83; People v. Poon (1981) 125 Cal.App.3d 55, 83.) The apparent conflict is easily resolved by reading section 954's rule that "[a]n acquittal of one or more counts shall not be deemed an acquittal of any other count" as applying only to "counts" that charge separate and distinct offenses.

That is how courts have interpreted this aspect of section 954: "This language clearly means that each count in an indictment or information, which charges a separate and distinct offense must stand upon its own merit, and that a verdict of either conviction or acquittal upon one such charge has no effect or bearing upon other separate counts which are contained therein." (People v. Moon (1935) 7 Cal.App.2d 96, 99, italics added; accord People v. Amick (1942) 20 Cal.2d 247, 252; see also People v. Walker (1983) 146 Cal.App.3d 34, 38, italics added [Walker's acquittal of one charge did not require reversal of the other because "his charged offenses consisted of separate and distinct acts."].) The essential underlying principles of double jeopardy themselves speak in terms of the distinctness of multiple offenses: "[t]he Double Jeopardy Clause is not such a fragile guarantee that prosecutors can avoid its limitations by the simple expedient of dividing a single crime into a series of temporal or

spatial units." (People v. Djekich (1991) 229 Cal.App.3d 1213, 1223-1224, quoting Brown v. Ohio (1977) 432 U.S. 161, 169.)

This overview of the law shows there are clear limits on the reach and scope of the general rule permitting multiple convictions which restrict such convictions to charges involving separate and distinct offenses – consistent with the most reasonable interpretation of section 954 as authorizing multiple convictions for "different offenses," but not merely "different statements of the same offense" (§ 954, italics added), and consistent with the related rule barring separate conviction of an offense necessarily included within another convicted offense. An in-depth analysis of these principles as they apply to the situation in this case demonstrates decidedly that the Court of Appeal reached the correct result in finding appellant could not properly be convicted of both oral copulation of an unconscious person and oral copulation of an intoxicated person, because, however one slices it, there was but a single convictable offense.

B. Appellant Unquestionably Committed But One Criminal Offense for Which He is Subject to One Criminal Conviction

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